| LASTERM OFFICE
Dowision of Design &
Construction

MAY 1 113860

Chief

Region Five Archisest

143 South Third Street 1

mmlpm 6’ ’.. Landacape Architect

neer

] -

Offienr

To: Director L'-
Prom: " "Sesional Birvector D
Suhject: Historie Structuvres Report, Part I,\Castle Clinton
Aktached for your consideration is the subject report, conaisting

of ‘thres sections: Administrative Data, Historical Data end
Architectural Data. By copy of this memorsadum, we are alse
requesting 20DC to submit comments.

Comments should be submitted no later than May 20.
(Sgd.) George A. Palmer

Acting Regional Director

In duplicate
Attachments - 2

Copy to: Chief, BODC, w/copy of rwertu//
Supt., Status of Liberty, w/eopy of report

FLEASE RETURN TO:

TECHMICAL IIFCMATICN C20TT0




-*--—-‘—--—‘—-

ATTENTION:

Portions of this filmed document are
illegible due to the poor quality of
the source document.




HISTORIC STRUCTURES REPORT
Part I
CASTLE CLINTON
CASTLE CLINTON NATIONAL MONUMENT

Prepared by

Supervisory park Historian

Statue of Liberty National Monument
May 6, 1960



Director

Regional Director

Chief, EODC

Superintendent

Date

Date

Date




TABLE OF CONTENTS

Sub ject

1.
2.

3.

1.

2.
3
e
50

6.

Te
8.

9.

10.
11,

1z,

Admirdistrative Data . « ¢ « ¢ o s ¢ ¢ ¢ 5 ¢ ¢ 2 0 0 0 0
Barly Military History of the Battery . « « « « o » » »
origin of the West Battery (Castle Clinton) « « « o« « &
Military History of Castle Clinton « « « o « o « & o «

Ommnﬂﬁmdwm = s 8 ® 8 s v
Recomuendations for Restoration . « ¢« s ¢ » ¢ o ¢ ¢ & o

-“.“‘.'l..l."..............‘.

Archoologiﬂlm.-.....-....-.......

illugtrations

"Map of Land under water ceded by the Corperation of
New York to the United States for Fortifications, 1807.". .

“Phnofth.l-wllwwnmlﬂ)-......
Plan of fortifieations at the Battery (McComb Plan 152) . .
me‘&tw (WMIS)). I T S

W"Plan of the Tower-Battery for the South-West Point of
the City of New York" (Archives Plan 36-14) « « « o & « o &

mm,li«!ork” M‘..MM). " e o 0w
"A Plan of Castle Clinton, New York." (Archives Plan 36-31)

"Plan of Castle Clinton, Harbour of New York"
”mmm»”).oooooooootvtootooo

Plan of West Battery (Archives Plan 36=ll). « o v « v o « o
"View of the Battery looking Nerth from the Churn® (Stckes)
"Historical Base Map, Castle Clinton Naticnal Monument"™, .

WArcheological Research, Castle Clinton National Monument®

&5 LEE o we @



1. Administrative Data
&, Name and number of building:
Castle Clinton ( no number assigned ).
b. Proposed use and justification:

This histeoric fort in Battery Park became a National
Monument on July 13, 1950 and was partially restored by the
Hational Park Service during the ensuing three years. It was
built in the years 1808-18l11, the last of the forts on the
lower end of Manhattan Island beginning with the Dutch Fort
Amsterdam in 1626. It helped to ward off British attack during
the War of 1812 and later had a varied and significant history
as an open-air entertaimment center, concert hall, immigration
station, and aquarium, Completion of its restoration as a fort
has been approved as part of the MISSION 66 program,

Current planning visualiges one-half the cost of res-
toration as local contribution, under the provisions of the
New York City National Shrines Advisory Board act of 1955, Ac-
tive interest on the part of influential groups in New York City
in completing Castle Clinton National Monument, as well as other
areas in the city under National Park Service administration, in
time for the opening of the World's Fair in 1964, has met with
cordial response on the part of the Secretary of thc'xmuior.
Speaking in New York City on April 19, Secretary Seaton stated,
in thie connection: "I pledge you the Department of the Interior



is prepared to accomplish its share of the task." Early com-
pletion of the restoration of Castle Clinton is therefore now
Departmental poliey.
¢. Provisions for cperating:

FMmMnguumrmmmuNu!orkm.
to be matched by appropriated funds, for the restoration and re-
habilitation of Castle Clinton. On completion of the structure
and its equipment as a fert of the period of 1812, together with
exhibits illustrating other periods of its history, the fort will
be operated under the administration of the Superintendent, Statue
of Liberty National Monument, as & unit of the New York City areas
of the Natienal Park Service.

A private organigzation based on interest in Castle
Clinten because of its War of 1812 assoclations is now forming
in New York City, under the sponsorship of the New York City Na-
tional Shrines Advisory Board. WNegotiation of a cooperative
agreement with this orgarization, when it has been developed, is
recormended. Such cooperative agreement should look toward as-
sistance in the cost of development and furnishing, and aid in
operating the structure to the extent of sponsoring suitable com-
memorative observances.

Castle Clinton will be a day use area, and will be open
to the public daily to conform with the operation of Statue of
Liberty National Monument. Visitation will be heavy, judged by



the experience of the New York Zoological Soeiety in operating
the New York Aquarium on this site, probably running te 1,000,000
or more annually. A substantial year-round staff will be required,
even though administrative supervision and heavy maintenance will
be provided by Statue of liberty National Monument., Operating
costs are estimated at $50,000 annually for management and pro-
tection, and §20,000 annually for maintenance and rehabilitation,
Operation will be by appropriated funds.

d. Preliminary estimate of cost for rehabilitating structure:

Current estimate of the cost of restoration and re-

habilitation of the structure, as revised in the Bastern Office
of Design and Construction April 1, 1960, is $700,000, This cost
is tabulated as follows:

Utilities - water, electric, telephone . . . . $ 13,100
Utilities — SOWOXrs o o ¢ 4 o ¢ o o o s 6 s o » 9,000
Reconstruct and rehabilitate. o« « o« o « s « » . m,m

" " " hot shot oven . . 0w 15,”
Huseun mo L I O I T S T 50,@
Historic ordnance « « « « ¢« « o « » % % 0 0 @ “.m
Grade and resurface parade. « « « « « s « s » o 25,000
THRDE o s 6 o 6 W 6 b E s 6o OO " OB &8 & . 21,5@

Total $700,000
A large part of the research necessary for restoration
has been completed. Some study of period ordnance will be nec-
essary, but the cost can probably be absorbed by the allotment
for "Historic ordnance” listed above., For full exhibit develop-
ment covering all periode of the structure's history, additional



research estimated at a cost of $5,500 will be needed.

No funds are currently programmed for the restoration
and rehabilitation of Castle Clinton. It is recommended, how-
ever, that the entire program be approved for execution during
the Fiscal Year 1962, This is in line with the Tentative Pro-
gram Goals, New York Shrines, recently prepared in the Regional
Office, approved by the New York City National Shrines Advisory
Board, and endorsed, in general terms, by the Secretary of the
Interior.

2. Historicsl Data
Castle Clinton National Monument is both a link with

our colonial past and a symbol of the growing new nation, It
was the last of a series of forts on the Battery which, from
the Dutech settlement of 1620, guarded Manhattan Island from at-
tack by sea. As such, it is one of the last surviving links
with the early history of our greatest commercial city. Castle
Clinton, completed in 181), was an important element in the de-
fenses of New York Clty during the War of 1812, after which it
served as Third Military Distriet Headquarters until 1821,

The structure was later comverted to uses which symbelize
significant phases of the development of a city and a nation
rising to greatness. Heceded by the Federal Government to the
city in 1823, the fort became Castle Carden, famed as a theater
and entertainment center until 1855, In that year Castle Garden



was acquired by the New York State Commissioners of Emigration,
serving for the next 35 years as the nation's principal recep~

tion center for milliens of immigrants to our shores. From 1896
to 1941 it was well known as the New York Aquarium.

Early Military History of the Battery

For nearly 200 years after the first European settle~
ment the southern tip of Manhattan Island, long known as the
Battery, was an important, if not the principal, defense point
for New York City. In 1626, when Dutch colonial government was
first established in New Netherland, a fort was built on high
ground above the point of the island. Fort Amsterdam, as it
was named, was originally a crude fortifiecation, consisting of
a2 log blockhouse surrounded by wooden palisades and sodded
earthen walls. During the ensuing four decades, although the
fort was repaired and rebuilt several times, being strengthened
by the construction of stone-faced bastions, it was never an
effective fortification, For this reason, the Dutch under Peter
Stuyvesant made no attempt to defend their settlement in 1664,
when & British fleet appeared to take possession of the colony
inthamotthohhe!!ark.l

The British made few changes in the principal defense
of the city, other than changing its name to Fort James. As a
result, the fort was easily recaptured by a Dutch fleet nine



years later, despite an exchange of fire between fleet and fort
for almost an hour - the first occasion on which an attempt
l‘l-dntodcfmdtlulity.z Dutch control was only temporary,
New York being returned to England by treaty in the following
year. The British apparently learned little from past experience,
for the defenses of the city were not materially improved.

Barly in 1689, following the abdication of James II in
the Glorious Revelution, the fort was seized by Jacob Leisler
and his supporters, and its name changed to Fort William in honor
of the newly crowned king. During the two years in which he held
the eity, Leisler not enly repaired and rebuilt the fort but con-
structed a half-moon battery in front of it, Early in 1691 he
fired from the fort upen royal troops attempting to dislodge him,
but finally surrendered to the new governor, and was tried and
mtortrumk

No further shots, other than saluting volleys, were
fired from the Battery unmtil 85 years had passed. In the mean-
time, the old defensive work — known successively as Fort William
Henry, Fort Anne, and Fert George — was becoming increasingly
dilapidated and outmoded, The outbreak of the American Revolution
found the fort in ite usual state of military unpreparedness.
Early in 1776 the American forces had occupied it and erected
several supperting batteries, but the difficulty, Af not the im-
possibility, of defending New York against the British naval and



5
mlitary forces seon became apparent,

On July 12, 1776, two British warships sailed up the
Forth River in daylight, past the batteries that were supposed
to prevent their passage; six days later they returned, running
the same gauntlet, practically unharmed, Feollowing the Battle
of Long Island, shots were exchanged with British ships sailing
up the East River and with British troops who had occupled
Governor's Island, but when the British landed in New York on
September 15 the fortifications on the Battery were of necessity
ahnnmn.é While it proved of no particular military value to
them, Fort George was garrisoned by the British until their evacua-
tionofﬂw!orkmmzs,lm.v

With the coming of peace the Battery fortifications were
once again allowed to deteriorate, and the area became a popular
promenade. After considerable agitation to remove the dilapidated
fort completely, its demolition was authorized in 1790 by the New
York legislature, which declared that "Fort George . . . and the
battery adjacent thereto are at present useless for the purpose of
defense,"” The site was, however, "forever reserved for the purpose
of erecting public buildings, and . . . works of defense.” Within
a year a "government house” had been erected there, planned orig-
inally as the President's official residence but used instead first
as the Governor's residence and then as a custom house. Meanwhile,
the site of the former water battery had been converted into a



e
pleasant park with thirteen guns mounted as a saluting battery.

By 1793, ten years after the British evacuation of the eity,
New York was probably more defenseless than at any previous time
in her history.

Origin of the West Battery (Castle Clinton)

The inereasing international rivalry of England and
France during the ensuing fifteen years brought war scare after
war scare, and the "fortification fever" seized the people of
New York., The first instance was in 1794, when England was feared
as the potential aggressor, Beth the Federal and the state govern-
ments passed legislation te improve the defenses of New York harbor,
and fortifications were begun on Governorts, Ellis and Bedloe's
Im.mhormwrxmmbyumuaavdmm.9 In
1798, when France was regarded as the enemy, efforts to defend the
harbor were revived., Again, Federal and state appropriations were
made for this purpose, supplemented by money from the city treasury,
and private cltigens furnished much of the labor teo erect earth-
works on the Battery, But in both instances the initial fervor was
quickly dissipated, and the fortifications soon fell into M-pu.r.m

In 1805 relations with England, now fighting for her life
against Napoleonic France, again became strained as American shipping
was seized and American sailors were impressed. This crisis situa-
tion continued, and worsened, throughout the next seven years, cul-
minating in an American declaration of war. During this period the



continual agitation in New York and other coastal cities for more
effective harbor defenses gradually overcame the Jeffersonian
preference for gunboats over fortifications, and more attention
mm@mwthmofwwngﬂw!mﬁw.u

The first step was a survey of the harbor and its de-
fenses, begun late in 1805 by Lt. Col. Jonathan Williams of the
United States Army Engineers. Two years later Williams was named
one of three Unmited States Commissioners, along with Vice Presi-
dent George Clinton and Secretary of War Henry Dearborn, who were
instructed to make a detailed study and report on the best means
otrmlfyiagﬂu!wkhrher.u Their "Outlines of a Plan of
Defence,” submitted in July, 1807, called for the construction
or completion of five fortifications or batteries on the three
iglands of the Upper Bay and two casemated batteries in the water
off Manhattan Island, one about 50 feet from the west head of the
Battery and the other in the Hudson River a short distance to the
msa-!t.h.L3 The latter part of this plan was contingent upon cession
to the Federal Government of the required water lots; this was
finally accomplished by the city with state approval. Cession
was followed by the appropriation of Federal funds, and by the

sumser of 1808 construction of the West Battery, later named Castle
14
Clinton, was underway,



1. ™iap of Land under water ceded by the Corperation of
New York to the United States for Fortifieations, 1807."
Map no. 49, Fortifications File, Office of the Chief of
Engineers, War Records Branch, National Archives,
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Military History of Castle Clinton

The West Batiery was not completed until the fall of
1811, a salute being fired from the new fort on November 25, Evacu-
atd.onnlw.ls The fort was not garrisoned until June 2, 1812, when
a light artillery company was sent to man the new battery, a few
days after General Joseph Bloomfield had been given command in New
York, and only a few weeks before his General Order of June 20 was
issued to announce the declaration of war with Great Britd.n.lé

The garrison spent the summer mainly in "exercising the
guns" and in practice firing at a target, an old hulk anchored in
the harbor off the httory.l? The advent of autwm brought fear
of a British naval attack on New Yerk, six frigates being reported
erulsing off Sandy Heok, but this threat temporarily disappeared
dunngthctd.ntor.m Barly in 1813 the British declared a "strict
and rigorous Elockade" of the port, which caused further panic in
the city. The Commen Ceounecil petitioned the legislature and the
Congress for funds to build additional defenses, and breastworks
mthrmuponmmmbmuntort.l’

In the summer of 1814 the British, whose defeat of
Napoleon had released their full military force for the American
war, sent a large fleet to American waters. Lying off Sandy Hook
during most of the sumer, it posed the strongest threat of the
war to the city and created widespread panic. This alarm was ine
tensified after news of the burning of Washington reached New York



late in August; more militia were called out to defend the city,
and volunteer groups of citigens helped build breastworks and
‘fortifications at various peints around the hubor.ao By November
fear of an attack had abated, and early in February, 1815, New
York received the welcome news that a treaty of peace had been
d.gnod.a The eity had been saved from bombardment and invasion,
whether because the strength of its defenses had deterred an enemy
attack, or because the British were content merely to oripple the
pcrtbyablochdo.a

Throughout this period confusion generally characterized
the military administration of "New York City and its Dependencies.”
General Bloomfield had been in command for less than three months
when, because of popular criticism of his lack of energy, he was
uphudbycml.!elmlmt.rom.m Armstrong remained in com=
mand for only five months, being chosen by President Madison to be
Secretary of War, and was succeeded by Henry Burbeck. Then in rapid
succession during 1813-16lL came George Izard, Henry Dearborn, Morgan
Lewis, and finally New York Gevernor Daniel D. Temlclna‘a

leanwhile, on May 1, 1813, New York from the sea to the
Highlands and part of New Jersey had been designated the Third
nmu-;nma.ﬁ The West Battery, contrary to the assertions
of later writers, did not at this time serve as headguarters for
the military commanders of the district; this was located through-

out most of the war in a building near Government House and the
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26
arsenal, just south of Bowling Creen, With the ending of the

war, the city began negotiations with the Federal Government for
cession of this valuable property; by the end of May, 1815, the
land bad been divided into lots which were sold at public auction,
mmumutummmmmn Concurrent
with this action, General Alexander Macomb assumed command of the
District, and effective May 30 established his headquarters at
"Castle Clinton, heretofore designated West Battery."™ This is
the first lmown use of the name, probably chosen to honor DeWitt
m,mMMrMumotM!m.”

Agitation had begun in the meantime for restoration of
the Battery to ite pre-war beauty, and its improvement as a park
and publie M.” This issue was revived in 1617, when
General Winfield Scott, who had been military commender in New
York since June, 1816, began the construction of two small office
buildings on the Battery at the head of the Castle Clinton cause-
way; the popular outery was so strong that Scott was finally erdered
to abandon the proj.et.go The situation remained dormant for nearly
three years, until May, 1820, when the Common Council began a cam-
paign to obtain Castle Clinten "for the public use of this City."
Although President Monroe and the War Department were agreeable,
Congress failed to pass the necessary legislation and recession of
thllndtoth.citymmﬂ

During this period the military usefulness of the fort,



13

even as an administrative headquarters, had decreased. In
February, 1821, the Third Military District was apparently
abolished at the time that headquarters of the Eastern Depart-
ment of the Army was moved to Fort Columbus on Governort's Island,
with Winfield Scott as Commanding General. By July Castle Clinton
was serving as quarters for the Army Paymaster and a Surgeon, and
on November 18 it was turned over to the Quartermaster Department
for storage of military oquipn-nt.ja

Ignoring the arguments of Quartermaster Bender, who
found it convenient and inexpensive for this purpose, Congress
on March 30, 1822, authoriged the reconveyance to the ecity of the
land on which Castle Clinton stood, whenever it was no longer re-
quired "as a military position for the defence of the lil.rln:»r."33
Nearly a year passed before the Army took action, requesting
General Scott to report on the military value of the fort. Colonel
Joseph G, Totten of the Engineers, who made the survey, concluded
that "Castle Clinton may be struck out of the present system of
defence without essentially weakening it," a view in which Seott
concurred while emphasigzing that the structure was still ™useful®
as a quartermaster depot. As & result of this report, the War
Department on February 18, 1823, erdered that Castle Clinton be
evacuated and turned over to the city; all quartermaster and
ordnance supplies were removed by April 19, and on June 23, 1823,
the fort was officially reconveyed to a committee of the Common
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34
Council., Thus ended the military history of Castle Clinton.

35
Construction History of Castle Clinton

Although Colonel Jonathen Williams was the Army Engi-
neer in charge of all fortification construction in New York
harbor during the years immediately preceding the War of 1812,
the evidence is not ceonclusive that he actually designed and
superintended the construction of Castle Clinton, It has been
claimed, for example, that John MeComb, Jr., builder of the New
York City Hall, was the architect, His account books and several
plans of the fortification bearing his name prove that he was
associated with the construction work, at least in the role of
contractor, and it seeme to be established that the monumental
gateway at the sallyport was his \m‘k.36 It also appears from
other data that a Captain Whiley was in charge of laying the foun-
dation of the fort, and construction of the fort itself was super-
vised at times by Major Joseph G, Totten and Captain George
Bmford.” Upon being eriticized by his superiors in Washington
in June, 1810, because the cost of constructing the fort was con-
siderably more than his original estimate, Williams asked to be
relieved from his position as Engineer-in-charge in New York harbor.
Colonel Henry Burbeck apparently succeeded him, at least for a time,
but by the follewing year Williams was back in a position of au-
therity.”On his death, a few months after the end of the war, the



2. "Plan of the Lower hthry," by John m. dr. ¢, 1810,

Plan 151, John MeCemb, Jr., Papers, The New-York Historical
Society,
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3. Plan of fortifications at the Battery, probably by
Mm. Jr. ¢, 1810, Plan 1’2' Jehn W, Jr-.
Papers, The New-York Historical Society.
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4e "Gateway for Battery,” by John MeComb, Jr., ¢. 1810,
Plan Ne. 153, John McComb, Jr., Papers, The New-York
Historical Society.
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New York Common Council saluted him for ™planning the defenses
of this City and hrbour."” Without detracting from the con-
tributions of others, it seems apparent that Williams should
receive credit as the designer and builder of Castle Clinton,

Castle Clinton's construction history does not end in
1811, with the completion of the fort, but continues until al-
most 1823, when its military history was terminated. While the
most signifiecant changes were made after the war in 1815, when
General Macomb established his headquarters there, other minor
construction work was undertaken almost annually from 1813 to
1818. Because of these continual repairs, modifications, and
additions, the fort of 1823 differed in many respects from the
West Battery as originally planned and built, Morsover, as the
record, inecluding plans of the fort, is most complete for the
later years (ca. 1817-23), the appearance of the structure in
1812 must in large part be deduced.

Castle Clinton was a one-tier open casemated fort of
brownstone, mounting 26 guns. Cirecular in design (a segment of
a circle greater than a seml-circle), the fort had an immer
radius of 92 feet. The unfinished segment of the circle was
rounded off and cut by the straight line of the Corge, or rear
wall of the fort, at the center of which was the sallyport. The
fort was built on a man-made "island" of stone about 200 feet off
the "west head" of the Battery, teo which it was connected by a

LO
wooden causeway with a drawbridge.
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Williams originally visualized a circular fort about
50 feet off the Battery, mounting 30 te 50 guns in two or three
tiers and "with ample accommedations for a garrison,” similar to
Cagtle Williams on Governor's I-hnd.u His first change of plans
came when he discovered that because of proposed dock construetion
the fort would have to be out at least 200 feet from the Battery
tocmdth.ﬁoﬂhﬁim.“ Later, because of the high cost of
building the foundation, Williams was directed to build the fort
with one tier of guns only, which he described as ™an imperfect
work of 28 guns, without any accommodations for the men when not
on duty®; the expectation was that other tiers could be added
subsequently if additional funds became available. The foundation,
therefore, was massive in proportion to the superstructure, since

43
it had been designed to support a multi-tiered "tower" fort.

Foundation, gounterguard, and bridge:

The rough stone foundation of the fort was laid in 35
feet of water "and an uncertain depth of mud" within a "eounter-
guard” or wharf of stone blocks; these blocks were described as
forming "seven sides of an octagon, two sides on the town side
being made into one." As indicated on National Archives Plan
36-1j (1810), the counterguard was 39 feet wide at the base and
20 feet wide at the top, surfaced with a framework of "connected
logs.”" In the words of Captain Whiley, "never before was there
such a mass of stone and timber for the foundation of any work or

by
building sinee the creation of the world."



5. "Plan of the Tower-Battery for the South-West Point
of the City of New York." c¢. 1810. Plan 36-l4,
Fortifications File, Office of the Chief of Engineers.
War Records Branch, National Archives.
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Williams' belief that there was no danger of "the works
Spreading by the Superincumbent weight™ seemed borne out by the
appearance of the counterguard after a year had passed; as Captain
Bemford reported to him, "notwithstanding the depth of the water
and the irregularity of the bottom the whole pile has settled with
such regularity as not to show the smallest differences of levels."
But within the space of four years it was noted that the founda-
tion had settled further on the water side, causing several large
eracke in the wall and other damage. Two years later, in 1617,
the counterguard was strengthened with large ireon straps at each
angle to counteract damage from freeming, and oak fenders 6 inches
thick were spiked 4 feet apart around the block to secure the
foundation; in addition, large stones were placed around it to
give additional support to the !m..AS

While there is no written evidence as to its actual
length, the bridge commecting the fort and the Battery was about
200 feet long, Comparing Archives Plans 36-27 (1819) and 36-31
(ca. 1£17), the only plans showing the bridge, it appears that the
causeway was from 222 to 224 feet long and 26 to 30 feet wide; the
drawbridge section, located about 20 feet from the counterguard
end of the bridge, was approximately 14 feet square.

Between September, 1815, and March, 1816, some minor
repairs were made to the bridge and counterguard, principally sta-
bilization with iren straps and bolta‘:b In 1817 because of serious



6. "Castle Clinton, New Yerk." 1819. Plan 3627, Fortifications

File, Office of the Chief of Bngineers. War Records Branch,
National Archives,
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7. "A Plan of Castle Clinton, New York." c. 1817, Plan
36-31, Fortifications File, Office of the Chief of
Engineers. War Records Branch, National Archives.
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9 Plan of West htt.','. Ce 1811. Plan H. Fortifications
File, Office of the Chief of Engineers., War Records Branch,
National Archives,
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10. "Wiew of the Battery looking Nerth from the Churn."

¢. 1817, I. N, Phelps Stokes, The ILconography of
Yanhattan Lsland, Vol. VI, Plate 93B.
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deterioration the bridge and three of the plers supperting it
were almost completely rebuilt. All the sleepers and piers ly-
ing above low water mark were replaced, and piles were driven
against each pier about 4 feet apart; in addition, 6-inch oak
fenders were placed between the piles so as to provide further
stability. Since the drawbridge would not operate, a new set of
wheels was cast with "double power” for ease of operation, and
a low protective wall was built to keep the wheels free from dirt
and gravel. Finally, a new reiling was built, the entire bridge
was painted (probably white), and the counterguard was surfaced
with "gravel of the best qulity."‘ﬂ
Qutbuildings:

Archives Plans 36-27 and 36-31 show two guardhouses at
the Battery end of the causeway and two larger outbuildings at
the fort end, on the counterguard at each side of the sallyport
entrance, The guardhouses measure approximately 8 by 12 feet and
10 feet high; the dimensions of the outbuildings, as shown in
Archives Plan 36-32 and listed in an 1823 inventory of the materials
in Castle Clinton, were 27' 2% by 17* 2" and 10 feet in height.
Each of the latter had two rooms, two entrance doors and eight
umdo\..w

The date at which these buildings were constructed can-
not be definitely established. McComb's Account Book refers to
work done in 1810-1l at the Guard Rooms and the Guard House, but
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there is ne further Mﬂm” Neither Archives Plan
36-11 (ca. 1811) nor the early McComb Plans have any indieation
of outbuildings, and there is no mention of them in Williams*
correspondence, The two buildings on the counterguard are shown
in a watercolor painting emtitled "View of the Battery Looking
North from the Churn,” reproduced in Stokes' Icomography. Stokes
dated this picture ca. 1812, but since fenders are indicated
around the counterguard it probably could not have been painted
wrumwnmﬂvmm”

It seems likely that the outbulldings adjecent to the
fort entrance were built after the War of 1812, as part of the
headquarters establishment, for no mention has been found of the
existence of soldiers' barracks in or near the fort during the
war, In the period September, 1815, to March, 1816, a considerable
quantity of lime, sand and bricks, as well as building hardware,
was purchased "for office at Castle Clinton,” indicating con-
siderable bullding activity; although the outbuildings were later
described as wooden, they could have been partly of brick construc-
tion, Unfortunstely, ne bills for carpentry work have been found
for this period, even though we lmow such work was done when the
officers' guarters were repaired and remcdeled in 1815, Based
both on evidence and logic, we can assume that the two outbuild-

51
ings were probably constructed at about the same time.

Halls:
The outer walls of the fort were 8 feet in thickness,



11, "Historical Base Map, Castle Clinton National Monument,"
1956. Drawing Ne. NM/CAS 3001, National Park Service,
revised and annotated by Walter E, Hugins, Historian,
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narrowing to 6 feet at the Gorge. They consisted of exterior
and interior facings of brownstone ashlar laid in Flemish bond
over a core of irregular rubble fill of various types of stone.
Much of the brownstone came from a quarry in Newark, New Jersey,
but there is evidence that some of it, perhaps only that for the
gateway, came from a quarry in Chatham (present—day Portland),
Connecticu .52

Aside from the sallyport gateway, the walls of the
fort were pierced for 28 open embrasures, 4 false embrasures
and several narrow ventilation slits. These embrasures were
paired and “keyhole-angled" two to a casemate. Above the lintel
of each embrasure was a jack arch, with a round briek relieving
arch not visible behind this faecing., A larger brick relieving
arch, also non-visible, was located immediately behind the in-
terior wall facing, spanning each set of two embrasures. The

53
coping and soles of the enbrasures were also of brownstone.

Sallyport entrance:

Castle Clinton was entered through a massive brown-
stone gateway, probably designed by John McComb., Paired double
pilasters of ashlar blocks, alternately outeropped, framed bolt-
studded wooden doors opening beneath a plain jack arch, strength-
ened by an outeropped discharging arch above. The pllasters ex~
tended almost the height of the fort wall, with the gateway cap-
ping 5 or 6 feet higher. The stone in the gateway appears somewhat



2

lighter in color and finer in texture than that in the fort walls,
mwohblyomfmuwtmtwry.“

The two doors, each 11 feet high and 4 feet wide, were
apparently constructed of three layers of heavy cross~planking
with & total thickness of about 7 inches. They were studded with
768 iren bolts, the heads of which were over 2 inches in diameter,
and had three large triangular-shaped iron hinges on each side.
OUne door probably contained a small door or "™wicket gate" which

55
was 57 inches high and 21 inches wide,

The flooring of the sallyport passageway was originally
wood, with brownstone sills at either end, the wooden planks
probably resting on beame similar te the flooring of the case~
mates and quarters. Below this was a stone and rubble fill about
18 feet wide, separating the two cellars under the officers?
Mors.sé In 1817-18, in connection with the repair and re-
furbishing of the bridge, flagstones were laid from the bridge
to the sallyport entrance and through the passageway, replacing
the wooden flooring. At the same time, two brownstone steps ap-
proximately 25 feet in width were built about 10 feet in front of
the gateway. Previous to this addition, logical for a "head-
quarters" fort, the 3-foot difference in elevation between the
counterguard and the sallyport passageway was apparently bridged
by an earthen ramp, more suitable for wheeling in artillery

57
pieces and other heavy equipment.



Officers' guarters:

The four rooms in the Gorge, two on each side of the
sallyport passageway, were used as officers! quarters through-
out the military history of the fort. The four rooms were ar-
ranged symmetrically, each set of rooms being identiecal but in
reverse., The two rooms adjacent to the passageway, with in-
terior dimensions of 13" 2" by 20" 10", were slightly smaller
than the other two, with interior dimensions of 17' 11" by
207 10", Each set of two rocms was divided by an entryway and
stairwell 3' 9" wide, with a 6~inch wooden partition en each
side. The sallyport passageway between each set of rooms was
probably a lintelled opening 12' A" wide, with brownstone jaunbs
supporting a brownstone lintel at the elevation of the base of
mm«mm,mwmnmmd.”

The brownstone Gorge wall of the fort formed one wall
of each set of rooms; another brownstone ashlar wall with a rubble
R T T D ———
quarters from the magagines, The other two walls, facing the
sallyport passageway and the fort Parade, were brick with a
brownstone base course, and contained the only openings into the
rooms, Bach set of rooms had four windows on the parade side,
two to each room, with 24 panes of glass, and with brownstone
sills and lintels, The windows, 3' 3" wide by 5' 7 high, were
2* 10" above the floor and extended within a few inches of the
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9=foot celling; the sills were 3' 8" wide by 4" thick, and the
lintels 3' 53" wide by 103" thick. The windows were fitted with
Venetian blinds, at least after 1815, Each set of rooms also

Mtwno@mtrmcodoou,mommwow

passageway 4' 6" from the corner, and the other on the parade

side about 15 feet from the corner, opening inte the quarters

entryway., Each door was 3' 9" wide by 6' 10" high with brown-
mmsmmm.,butwlymm.”

The interior walls of the quarters were probably
plastered. The flooring consisted of wood planks laid over
beams (15 for each set of rooms) which rested on the brownstone
cellar walls, Thocdling,nnhiniagthcmnmofbm,
mormmmnmmoranmmmrmmrm
stairwell dividing each pair of rooms apparently contained two
wooden staircases, one leading up to the garret and the other
leading down to the cellar, The garret stairway rose from the
quarters entryway about 6 feet inside the parade-side entrance
door; between the stairs and the entrance were two doors, 3¢ 3"
by 6 10", leading from the entryway into the two rooms on sach
side. Access to the cellar stairway could apparently be gained
only from the smaller of the two rooms, through a door (3! 3" x
6'10")imdorthegarrotltlin.ymthomkmllottho
quartcra.a

The twe smaller rooms, adjacent to the sallyport

g%y~
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passagewsy, may have served as kitchens during the war. This
seems to be the only explanation for the large fireplaces with
gruthotﬁhl(lOtM“byk'M)inth'rnrcom'rof
these roems, as shown in Archives Plan 36-11. These fireplaces
also appear on McComb Plan 151, but are not shown on any of the
postwar phul,ézludingtotho conclusion that they may have
been eliminated during the 1815 guarters removation. Two other
fireplaces (with hearths 5' 3" wide) probably replaced these
large kitchen hearths, as shown on Archives Plans 36-31 and
36-32, along the sidewalls of the smaller rooms between the
nllypoﬂmdooruﬂthomcorm.és

Bach of the two larger rooms also had a fireplace,
somewhat smaller and located against the rear wall (the Gorge
wall of the fort) about midway between the two corners of the
room; these are also shown on McComb Plan 151, indicated on
Archives Plan 36-27, and penciled in on Archives Plan 36-32.
The two rear-wall fireplaces in each set of quarters were ap-
parently served by a single brownstone chimney about 21 1o"
square, located midway on the Corge wall about 10 feet from the
edge of the gateway. These chimmeys extended ’S”f!!_tgawovo the
wtm,utmhwmdatmn,mcmhyﬂoat
brick extensions, possibly added in 1815 or later to provide a

better draft., Another chimney, on the passageway side of the
quarters, was added for each of the sidewall fireplaces, probably,
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although this is not kneown definitely, the same height as the
cthora.“

The roofing of the quarters, like that of the case-
mates, consisted of wooden shingles resting on 4" x 12" rafters
23 feet long, slanting down from the Gorge wall te the brick
front wall of the qasﬁus.6s A change was made in 1815, a
piazza or portico being built "o keep off rain and snow."

The roof was extended an additional 10 feet, and 12 wooden
columne & feet high and 5 inches in diameter were erected to
support it; these «lmamwmfut apart, except for
the two center ones which were placed about 12 feet apart., There
was apparently no rain gutter, like that on the casemate roof,
The upper ridge of the roof, where it joined the top of the Gerge
wall, was covered \d.thlhutlond.“

Cellars and cellamay:

Beneath the officers' quarters were two non-connecting
cellar roems, one on each side of the sallyport passageway. Al-
though these are shown in profile only in the 1823 plan (36-32),
it is probable that they had been part of the fort since its
construction, for cellar steps were laid and cellar window sills
were cut by MeComb in 1810, It seems logical that the cellars
were used during the war as guardrooms and/or prisons, for such
facilities are known to have existed, MeComb's work in 1810
also ineluded "Letting in Grating in the Guard Rooms" and "Letting
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in 3 Hooks in doors of Guard Rooms." Three years later General
Dearborn ordered his Quartermester to
furnish the necessary Cabooses and Stove, with

Pipes, for the West Battery and Gov- Island,
and , . . erect in the Guard Cook Room of the

West Battery an apparatus for cooking—Also,
render warm and comfortable the Guard House,
and Guard Cook Room, and secure the Prisoners

apartments with necessary fastenings. . . .67
It is also known that soldiers guilty of military infractions
were imprisoned at the fort during the war, one Officer of the
Day report referring te W1l in a prison not large enough for 6."
Moreover, carpentry work performed in 18li ineluded "Repairing
Black hole W Battery," probably another reference to the od.hrc;éa
With the end of the war and the establishment of military head-
quarters at Castle Clinton, the cellars were presumably converted
into kitchens; it is known that they had this function from 1821-23,
and it seems logical that the change was made nrlior.é’

Bach cellar room was 17' 9" from front to back (about
3 feet smaller than the quarters upstairs because the back or
with little likelihoed of any interior partitions, and 6' 3" in
height. Although Archives Plan 36-32, the only one showing the
cellars, has no indication of fireplaces, other indirect evidence
cited above shows that they must have existed, probably along the
back wall of each room. As indicated previously, a wooden stair-
case provided access to each cellar room from the quarters above;
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although there is no direct evidence, this is the deduced ar-
rangement as early as 1811, Additional access was provided by
& sunken cellarway immediately in front of the quarters; this
was 27 feet long, 4 feet wide (3" 7" interior dimension from
brick retaining wall to front wall of quarters), and 3t 2»
deep. Each cellarway was entered by three masonry steps at the
magazine end. Opening off each cellarway was a lé-pane window
(2t 8" x 3* 5%) and a half-windowed door 6' 3" high by 5' wide;
the door window also had 16 panes, probably with the same measure-
ment, Because of the known height of the doer, steps must have
led from the cellarway down to the doorsill, although they are
notindatcdonmyruihbhplm.m
Magagines and "privies":

In the rounded ends of the eircular part of the fort
walls, at each end of the Gorge, were two non-connecting chambers.
The larger inside chambers, adjacent to the officers' quarters,
were the fort magazines, while the smaller outside chambers, open-
ing onte the casemates, were probably privies. It was originally
planned to build one large octagonal magazine in the center of the
fort Parade, equidistant from all the casemates, but after some
discussion Oolonel Williams decided to utilige the space available
at each end of the casemated battery.

The use made of the smaller chambers is more question~
able. MeComb Plan 151 appears to give a schematic representation
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of privies with a row of six circles or holes in each chamber;
while this is not repeated in any later plans, nc other iden-
tification is given to these chambers, and they seem to be in
& logical position for latrines. This assumption is verified
further by the 1823 Estimate, which lists "2 privydoors, with
locks." Nevertheless these rooms may not have always had this
function, possibly serving as storshouses for a time, In 1813
General Izard ordered the Quartermaster to Mcause two privies
to be erected over the water on the outside of the West Bat-
tery." At the same time a bill was rendered for "2 Barrels Lime
for cleansing the Vaults of W. Battery, converted into Store
Houses," followed by & carpenter?s bill "for making necessaries
[murlqumforpﬂviu]mﬂrmir&ngmdmm
Bm."n These are the only architectural features of the
fort, with the exeeption of the magasines, which could be called
vaults, and the necessity of cleaning them with lime is obvious
if they had formerly served as privies.

Each magazine was & by 13 feet, arched transversely
with brick above 5~foot brownstene walls to a height of 12 feet
above the floor., The privies, measuring 12' by 4' 6", were
arched longitudinally in brick. Over this brickwork were ir-
regularly-shaped brownstone blocks laid to slope downward into
the fort; there was apparently no continuation of the sloping
shingled roof which covered the quarters on one side and the
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cagemates on the other. Access to each magagzine was through a
narrow winding passageway about 15 feet in length and ranging
from 2 feet to 4" 9" in width, A wooden door 3 inches thick
was placed over brownstone sills at each end of the passageway;
the outer door measured 4 by 7 feet and the inner, furnished
with a brass lock, was 2' 10" wide by 7' 9" high. Each privy
m.mmnm.mmn.wrmm«”

The front walls as well as the inner walls of the
privies were brick, while the jambs of the magazine passageway
entrances were brownstone. Although present evidence indicates
that the brownstone passageway walls from the entrance to the
first bend were faced with brick, this is not confirmed by Ar-
chives Plan 36~32 and may be a post-fort addition., The passage-
way walls, and probably the magazine and privy walls as well,
were whitewashed, and the chambers most likely had wooden floors.
There were, of course, no windows in these chambers, ventilation
being provided by vents through the outer walls of the fort. On
the wall outside each magazine were paired false embrasures through
each of which was a vent at sill level, apparently 3 inches wide by
14 inches high at the outside opening. Similarly, a triangular-
shaped air vent about 15 feet long led through the fort wall to
each privy; on the ocutside this was a narrow vertical slit 2 inches

T4
wide by 2 feet long widening to 2' 4™ by 3' en the inside.



Casemates and ordnance:
The imner circumference of the fort from magagine to

magazine was divided into fourteen casemates., Separating the
casemates, about 23 feet apart, were thirteen brownstone trav-
erses 6' 3" high by 5" 7" thick, jutting out 6' 5" from the in-
side face of the fort wall., In 1815, in connection with the
conversion of the fort into the military headquarters and resi-
dence of the commander, General Macomb proposed that the two
casemates adjacent to the east magazine be converted into rooms
to supplement the existing rooms in the Gorge. Although this
expenditure was not allowed by the War Department, it appears
that the first step, removal of the casemate traverse, was ac~-
complished, as shown on Archives Plan 36-27 (1819). By 1823, on
the evidence of Plan 36-32, a second traverse had been removed,
possibly in connection with storage of quartermaster and ordnance
supplies after 1821, The casemate modifications in the head-
quarters period may also have included the addition of shutters
over the embrasures, on the basis of the present visual evidence
of small slits on each side of each embrasure and an item in an
1815 bill for ™52 Hooks to Ambrasures"; no evidence of such shut-
ters can be found, however, in any of the available plans or in
tholmimcmory.?s

The flooring or gun platform of the casemates was A" x
12" wood planking, 24 feet long, laid over 1' x 6" beams 18 feet
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long. Below this were radially-laid logs, two levels separated
by stone fill, over the stone sub-foundation. The floering had
a slight downward slope towards the wall, desirable both for
absorbing some of the recoll and for ease in moving the gun back
into battery. Extending 18 feet inward from the fort wall, the
woodsn gun platform was bounded by a 6-foot wide flagstone walk
which circled the parade ground, widening to 12 feet in front of
the officers' qar't.c:"s..r6 Along the outside edge of this walk,
directly opposite the casemate traverses 12 feet away, were 13
eylindrical brick columms about 25 feet apart supporting the
cagsemate roof; two half-columns, in addition, were built against
the magazine walls beside the passageway entrances. These columns,
about 2' 6™ in diameter, were capped with brownstone blocks 2' 9%
square by 63" thick and set on circular brownstone bases 2' 8" in
diameter (two halves set together) by 7 inches thick; their over-
all height was 8' 8". Running from capstone to capstone were 2i4-
foot beams (1' x 1' 6") which supported the lower end of the case-
mate roof., Although there is evidence that Colonel Williams orig-
inally intended to use slate for fire protection, the roof cone-
sisted of wooden shingles laid on 4" x 12" rafters 23 feet long,
the upper ends resting on the irregularly sloped rubble at the
top of the fort walls, just behind the coping stones. The upper
ridge was covered with sheet lead, and a rain gutter projected
tmthlmdgodthmf.w
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Each casemate was armed with two 32-pound battering
cannon, cast iron with a é-inch bore, mounted on weoden car-
riages, a total of 28 guns., For a time during the war the
fort's ordnance alsc included A4 iron 18-pound field pieces,
probably placed on wooden platforms on the counterguard; early
in 1815 they were removed and placed on the bridge leading to
the Battery, When Castle Clinton became Third Military Dis-
trict headquarters, the armament had been reduced to 2 cannon
and 4 espare carriages, probably a result of the proposed cone
version of two casemates into quarters. By 1821, when it was
transferred to the Quartermaster Department, the fort contained
20 mounted cannon and 13 unassembled field pieces, most of the
latter having been moved there from the Battery and nearby
points, A year later, all guns had been moved to Fort Diamend,
amdotmopointiathom?s

Few detalls are known about the gun carriages. They
were constructed, principally of hickory and white ocak with
basswood scantling, at the West Battery Arsenal near the Custom
House, Most casemate carriages of this period consisted of two
parts, a top-carriage which supported the gun and a chassis along
which it moved on wheels te and from firing peosition. A wooden
tongue ran from the chassis into an aperture under the throat of
the embrasure where it was secured by an iron pintle; at Castle
Clinton this tongue-hole was just above floor level, about 1 foot
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square, extending 4 feet into the wall to a brick backwall, the
pintle running up through the embrasure sill., The chaseis was
traversed around the pintle by a rear wheel rumning on a cir-
eular iron rail (53" wide by " thick at Castle Clinton) set in
t.hctlouw.?’ Further research on gun carriages of this period
will undoubtedly reveal more construction details.

Parade, gisterms, and hot—shot fwrnace:

The parade in the center of the fort, enclosed by the
flagstone walk, was probably graveled, on the basis of colorstion
and representation eof texture on several Archives Plans. A flag-
staff stood in the rear of the parade, directly opposite the
sallyport entrance about 35 feet in from the opposite fort wall,
or 10 feet from the edge of the flagstone walk; this was in ex-
istence in 1814, and probably before, and is shown on Archives
Plans as late as 1819. The staff, about 32 feet high, was com-
posed of two tapering and overlapping sections, the lower one
about 21 feet long and the upper one about 12 feet long, and pos-
dhlyamm.w

Alse located there were two circular cisterns of unknown
depth and capacity, one on each side of the parade., Although they
are shown on two MeComb Plans and three Archives Plans of the fort,
many differences in detail make the exact dimensions impossible to
ascertain, The cisterns are in approximately the same position on
all plans, about 9 feet inside the parade from the edge of the |
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flagstone walk and almost directly opposite the second casemate
traverse from the magazine, On McComb's two plans they are 8
feet in diameter, the same as the inner diameter given on Ar-
chives Plan 36-1l; the outer diameter on this plan is 10 feet,
indicating a 2-foot thick lining. Archives Plans 36~31 and
36~32 show the cisterns covered, with a diameter of 12 to 14
feet, They were apparently lined with stone and cement to make
them water-tight reservoirs. According to Plan 36-31 and other
evidence, the cisterns (at least after early 18l.i) were covered
by wooden platforms on which were mounted two pumps about 5 feet
in height with long curved handles. Fresh water, supplied by
the Manhattan Water Company, was piped to the fort in wooden pipes
laid along the causeway from the Blttwy.sl

In the center of the parade, equidistant from the cis~
terns and about 30 feet from the edge of the flagstone walk in
front of the quarters, was the hot-shot furnace. Although a fur-
nace had been planned for the fort from the beginning, shot for
practice firing during the early years of the war was apparently
heated at a ™traveling forge" obtained from the arsenal; it was
not until April, 18l4, that the ordnance returns listed a shot
furnace for the West Battery. It was, moreover, in that month
that considerable brick and masonry work was performed ™io render
the West Battery Shot Furnace fit for use"; from the work accom-
plished, this was construction rather than repair. The Archives
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Plans, especially Plan 36-3L, indicate that it measured about
6 by 8 feet, with the broadest side, which contained the only
opening, facing the sallypert; although the height camnot be
determined from available evidence, it was apparently a relative-
ly low structure set in an oval-shaped depression. It had a
ridged roof, the ridge line running towards the sallyport, and
a chimmey centered above the furnace opemning., Considerable
study of other shot furnaces of the period will have to be made
Moﬂothumuhmmmlunbnm.”
Suumary :

As emphasized in the preceding construction history,
Castle Clinton of 1821 differed in many respects from the West
Battery of 1811, most of the modifications coming after the war's
end early in 1815, It was during this period from 1815 to 1821
that fenders were added to the counterguard, the bridge was re-
built, and the outbulldings probably constructed. Moreover, the
sallyport passageway was changed by the addition of steps and
flagging, the piazza built in front of the officers' quarters,
the fireplaces modified and additional chimneys erected (brick
extensions probably being added to the old chimmeys at the same
time), and two traverses as well as some of the guns removed
from the casemstes. Most of these modifications, it is apparent,
reflected Castle Clinton's changed status from a defensive forti-
fication to a military headquarters,
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Nevertheless, the fort remained essentially unchanged,
for these were not major architectural medifications. Further-
more, few structural changes resulted from the 1821 conversion
of the fort into a quartermaster depot. The structure deplcted

on the final Plan of 1823 (36-32) was in all significant respects
the same as the battery which had aided in the defense of New

York during the War of 1812, That plan, therefore, has been
adopted, with a few minor corrections and notations, as the
Castle Clinton Historical Base Map for the 1811-1821 periocd.

Recommendations for Restoration

It is recommended that Castle Clinton be restored as
far as possible to its appearance at the close of the War of 1812,
with such additional features of a& military nature added later as
will be of material assistance in telling the story of the fort.
Such features should, for instance, include the portico placed in
front of the officers' quarters just after the end of the war,
This portico would, with the roef over the casemates, complete a
convenient covered eircuit of the fort's interior, and it is
authentic for the period if not for the actual duration of hos-
tilities.

All 28 guns originally placed in the fort ( presumably
replicas will have to be used ) should be mounted in battery, and
the modified casemate partitions and casemate roof should be re-
constructed, The hotshot furnace in the middle of the parade
ground, apparently bullt toward the end of the war, should also



12. "Archeological Research, Castle Clinton National Meonument."
1955. Drawing No. NM/CAS 3000, National Park Service,
revised and annotated by Paul J. F. Schumacher, Archeologist,
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be reconstructed. There seems no compelling need to reconstruct
the two cisterns on the parade ground. These structures were not
of distinetively military character and would add little to in~
terpretation,

The officers' quarters, the two buildings that stood
on either side of the entrance to the fort, should be recon-
structed with some modification. JlNodification seems imperative
in order to facilitate ecireculation. These two small buildings
will be used for visitor contact purposes and must also house
the greater part of any created exhibits, Stairways and parti-
tions, which originally divided both buildings in the middle,
should be eliminated in order to add exhibit and visitor cireu-
lation space., If there is not the freest possible flow of
visitors through these buildings they are likely to become badly
crowded at times,

Ho interpretive or utilitarian use is seen for the low,
dark garrets in both sets of officers' quarters. The use of the
cellars for exhibit purposes seems a highly dublous objective.
The problem of control of visitor traffic up and down narrow stairs
would alone make exhibits in either garrets or cellars something
of a problem. There is relatively little information at hand on
the use of the cellars during the war —— they seem to have housed
mstm,m.tumunnmunuhﬁ—m
their furnishing as exhibits in place would have to be highly
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conjectural, It would be greatly preferable tc have the garrets
closed off emtirely and the cellars devoted to storage, work-
room, or other utiliterian purposes, with outside access only.

The reconstructed set of officers'! quarters at the
right of the gateway should serve as the contact station and
heuse exihiibits on the military phase of Castle Clinton, The
reconstructed building at the left of the gateway should house
exhibits on later phases of Castle Clinton's history. The eir-
culation of visitors between these points would naturally be in
the form of a self-guided tour following the eircuit of the guns
in battery,

One of the magazines should be restored as an exhibit
in place. The other should be restored for the use of the staff
as needed, including tollet facilities., Flatwork exhibits il-
lustrating the artillery uniforms and drill of the pericd of 1812
should be installed in some of the casemates. The hotshot furnace
in the center of the parade ground would be an isolated exhibit,
but would probably atiract considerable attention and should be an
effective interpretive unit.

For orientation purposes the military phase exhibits
should inelude a seale model of Castle Clinton ( West Battery )
during the War of 1812, showing its physical relation to the
Battery., A further orientation exhibit in the form of a trailside
case on the counterguard in rear of the fort is recommended. This
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should assist the visitor, either before or after seeing the in-
terior of the fort, in visualizing the original terrain and the
relationship of Castle Clinton to other defenses of New York in
1812,

A congiderable amount of research will be necessary
in conmection with the preparation of all the exhibits. Much
material is on hand for all periods of the Monument's history.
For the most part, except for the construction history of the
fort, it has not been followed up to the point of definitive re-
search,
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York Aquarium Plan of May 1, 1920; Archives Plan 36-32 (Section c-d)
and the 1823 Estimate give no evidence of a comnection between the
two cellars, indicating solid walls separated probably by a fill of
this kind.

57. DeRussy to Chief of Engineers, October —, 1817 (Corps of
Engineers, Reports Received, 1812-23); bills of Moriss & Woodruff
and John Latoure, dated January and February, 1818, Settlement hhL92,
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Account of R. E. DeRussy (Accounts of Third Auditor of the Treasury,
Fiscal Section, National Archives). See also Archives Plans 36-31
(ea, 1817), prepared by DeRussy, and 36-32 (1823). Although no
written evidence of an earthen ramp has been found, it appears on
MeComb Plan 150 and is suggested on Archives Plan 36-11 (eca. 1811),

58, The dimensions are given in Archives Plan 36-32, and scale
the same in the other pertinent plans., For the
continuous use of these rooms as officers' quarters, see Report of

Secretary of War, December 10, m.umm
%’ I, 307; Cuernsey, II, ; A to
, June 24, 1815 (Secretary of War, Letters Re-

ceived); Winfield Scott to Adjutant General, November §, 1821
(Adjutant General's Office, Correspondence). Regarding the sally-
port entrance, see sketch attached to letter, Macomb to Secretary
of War, June 24, 1815 (cited above), hereafter cited as Macomb
profile.

59. See Archives Plan 36-32, 1823 Estimate, and McComb's Account
Book; for the Venetian blinds, see 1815 bills of Abraham Leggett
and Birdeall & Heafield, Settlement 1830, Vou. 50, Ab, 4, and
Settlement 656, Account of C, Vandeventer (Accounts of Third
Auditor of the Treasury, Fiscal Section, National Archives). The
width of the doors, as given in the 1823 Estimate, may be in error,
since Plan 36-32 shows the parade doorway as 3' 8" and the passage-
way doorway as 3' 9%; moreover, the 1823 Estimate lists four door
lintels measuring 3' 74" wide by 104" thiek, an obvious archi-
tectural impossibility if the doors were 3' 9% wide.

60, MeComb's Acecount Book; Joseph Totten, "estimate of costs of
lower Battery,” April 19, 1810, enclosed with letter, Williams to
Secretary of War, May 14, 1810 (Secretary of War, Letters Received).
For the fleoring and garret, see 1823 Estimate and Archives Plan
3632 (Profile c-d).

él., These conclusions are based on McComb Plan 151 and Archives
Plans 36-11 and 36-32, although only one stairway is actually shown
on these plans, The 1823 Estimate lists "2 staircases leading to
the Kitchen" and "2 staircases leading up to the garrets'; these
may have been added during the 1815 renovation of the quarters to
provide easier access to the kitchens of & headquarters fort, es-
pecially if, as seems likely, the cellars had formerly been used as
prisons., The 1823 Estimate also lists 6 interior doors, the lo-
cation of which is indicated on the plans cited above. One dis-
erepancy is noted, however, in Profile ¢-d, Plan 36-32; although
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this profile is taken through the larger of the eastern set of
rooms, it includes the cellar stairway door which according to
the was separated from that room by a partition and hence
was not visible,

62, Archives Plan 3627 (1819) has an indication of what may
be fireplaces on the rear wall of these rooms, but they are
conglderably smaller and in & slightly different location.

63. In addition te the plans cited, McComb's Account Boek in-
cludes the statement, "Cutting 96' 3" of Hearth Stone,” but no
further mention of fireplaces,

6L, For the chimneys, see Archives Plansg 36~31 and 36~32 (es-
pecially Profile c-d), and the Macomb profile. There is no
definite evidence on the brick extensions; Mefomb's Acecount Book
ineludes an item for "326 Feet of Chimney Tops & Setting," with
no mention of brickwork (usually listed separately and by loeation
in this source)., The fort elevation in Archives Plan 36-31

(ca. 1817) shows a chimmey on the Gorge wall, scaling about 5
in height and with no brickwork visible.

65. Archives Plan 36-32 is the only one showing the roof in
profile, although its dimensions and conformation are suggested
in Plans 36-11 and 36-31, For the rafters and shingles, see 1823
Estimate,

66, For the 1815 renovation of the quarters, see Macomb to
Secretary of War, May 31 and June 24, 1815 (Secretary of War,
Letters Received); George Graham, Chief Clerk War Office, to
Macomb, July 19, 1815 (War Office Military Book &); and C.
VanDeVenter to Cel. Tobias Lear, October 19, 1815 (Accountant

of the War Department, Letters Received, Fiscal Section, National
Archives). For the details of the plazza and roof addition, see
Macomb profile, Archives Plans 36-31 and 36-32, and 1823 Estimate.
The latter source gives & feet as the height of the columns, while
Pha)jé-jﬁ gives &' 3" (probably including the thickness of the
roof ).

67. McComb's Account Book, bill rendered November 23, 1810;
Dearborn's order was attached to the bill of Blackwell & McFarland,
Settlement 1830, Vou. 60, Ab. A, Account of C. VanDeVenter (Ac~
counts of Third Auditor of the Treasury, Fiscal Section, National
Archives), As evidence that the cellars were non-comnecting, see
note 56 above,
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68, For prisoners at West Battery, see General Orders of April 20
and June 4, 1813 (Orderly Book Ne. 52, Third Mili Distriect,

Ad jutant General's Office, Post-Revolutionary Papers); Adjutant
General's Order, June 1, 1813 (Adjutant General's Office, Miscel-
laneous Manuseript Orders, 1813-15); Guernsey, I, 340-341. For
the "Black hole," see bill of Samuel Cheesman, Settlement 1830,
Vou, 10, Ab, C, Account of C. Vandeventer {(Accounts of Third
Auditor of the Treasury, Fiscal Section, National Archives).

69, Winfield Seott to Adjutant General, November §, 1821 (Adjutant
General's Office; Correspondence); 1823 Estimate.

70. Profile e~d, Archives Plan 36-32, gives the height and depth
of the cellar rooms; the width is assumed to have been the same
as the over-all width of the upstairs quarters rooms. For the
wooden cellar stairs, see note 61 above. For the cellarways, see
Archives Plans 36-27, 36-31, and 36-32; they do not appear on
HeComb Plan 151 or Archives Plan 36-11, but might be deemed sug-
gested in the latter, See 1823 Estimate for the window and door
measurements; MoComb's Account Book (1810) refers to "Cutting
13* 5% of Cellar Window 8ill.™

. Wmmlﬂmlsz;mof&rtoﬂmm,dum%
1810 (War Office Military Book 4); Williams to Secretary of War,
April 22, 1811 (Secretary of War, Letters Received). McComb Plan
lslshemboththcauhrmdmnmthotmnnml,am
of which is labeled "Powder Maga."; it is almost certain that both
these chambers were used as magazines. The design of these chambers
as shown in Archives Flan 36-32 is confirmed by Plans 36-11 and
36-27, although Plan 36-31 shows a considerably different layout.
See also report of Secretary of War, December 10, 1811 (

% m&m I, 309), which lists mﬁ“mw

72. Izard's order of May 31, 1813, bill of John B. Dash & Sen, of
June 28, 1€13, and bill of Samuel Cheesman, Master Carpenter, of
July, 1813, are all in Settlement 1830, Vou. 35, Ab. A, Account of
C. VanDeVenter (Accounts of Third Auditor of the Treasury, Fisecal
Section, National Archives).

73. Yor the dimensions, see Archives Plan 36-32, including Section
i-k; recent visual evidence is the basis for the conclusions on
the privy arches and the outside cover, but see also Archives Plan
36~31 and the Macomb profile. For the passageways and doors, see
Plan 36-32, the 1823 Estimate, and McComb's Account Book.
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The Archives Plan 36-32 and visual evidence, as well as measure-
ments by Historian Barnes in 1951; see his "Castle Clinton: 1812,"
pps 12-13. See Archives Plan 36-31 on the wood flooring, and
MecComb's Account Book for the whitewashing.

75. Archives Plans 36-32 (especially Sections a-b and e-f) and
36-11, For the 1815 modifieation, see Macomb to Secretary of War,
June 24, 1815, with attached Macomb profile (Secretary of War,
Letters Received); Graham to Macomb, July 19, 1815 (War Office
Military Book 8). On the shutters, see Settlement 656, Aecount
of C, Vandeventer (Accounts of Third Auditor of the Treasury,
Fiscal Section, National Archives); memorandum of April 10, 1951,
from Historian Frank Barmes to Regional Director, Region One,

76. 1823 Estimate; Archives Plans 36-11, 36~31, and 36-32
(Sections a-b and e-f)., For the log foundation, see Archives
Plan 36-l4 and McComb Plan 152; see also discussion in Barmes,
"Castle Clinton: 1812," pp. 6-7, note 16. Archives Plan 36-27
(Profile AB), dated 1819, is the only evidence for the slope of
the flooring; for descriptions of seacoast gun carriages
casemates of the perioed William E, Histor

1895), I, 343, III, » see McComb's
Account Book (this contains only quantities with no reference to
location of flagging), and Archives Plans 36~l1 and 36-32; on
Plan 36-11 the walk in front of the quarters is only & feet wide,
so it was probably widened to 12 feet in 1815 in comnection with
the piazza construction.

77. Archives Plan 36-32 and 1823 Estimate. For the proposed
slate roof, see Williams to Secretary of War, December 29, 1810,
in from the Secretary pamphlet cited above; further
niwtm&-m - is the item "218 35/100 squares
of elating" in Totten, “estimate of costs of Lower Battery," April
19, 1810, with Williams to Secretary of War, May li, 1810 (Secretary
of War, Letters Received). There is no evidence that slate was
actually used, and the roof was definitely shingled in 1823, aec-
cording to the 1823 Estimate.

78, Ordnance Returns, West Battery, January 1, 1814 - June 30,
1815 (0ffice of Chief of Ordnance, Statements of Ordnance and
Ordnance Stores, 1813-21); Guernsey, I, 75. No earlier returns
could be found, and later returns were consolidated for all New
York harbor forts; ne Columbiads, which were generally 50-pounders,
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were used at Castle Clinton, For the fleld pieces, see General
Order of March 1, 1815 (Orderly Book, Third Military Distriect,

AGO, Post-Revolutionary War Papers); bill for cartage of two 32-

1b, cannon from Custom House yard to West Battery, May, 1815, in
Settlement 1830, Vou. 93, Ab., 4, Account of Christopher Vandeventer
(Accounts of Third Auditor of the Treasury, Fisecal Seetion, National
Archives). Fer the 1821 inventory and the 1822 transfer of ordnance,
see Bender to Crass, Nevember 12, 1821 (Castle Clinton Folder,
Quartermaster Records); Special Order 62, August 16, 1822 (Orderly
Book, Eastern Department, AGO, Pm-meiuﬁmry War Papers);
Captain Churchill, Fort Diamond, to Colonel Bemford, Ordnance De-
partment, October 1, 1822 (0Office of Chief of Ordnance, Document
File, Box 15).

79, For construction of the carriages, see Settlement 1830, Vou. 7,
Ab. A, Vou, 65, Ab. A, Vou. 66, Ab. A, Account of C., VanDeVenter
(Accounts of Third Auditor of the Treasury, Fiscal Section, National
Archives), For general descriptions of carriages of the period, see
Birkhimer Q# 254, and Farrow, gp, & I, 343, 799, 11, 528,
TII, 36=37. For the Castle Clinton , pintle, and traverse
rails, see Archives Plan 36-32 and 1823 Estimate ("122 running feet
of iron bar"); McComb's Account Book has an item, "Cutting 28 Pintle
Holes."™

€0, Archives Plans 36-11, 36-l4, and 36~3l. The location of the
flagstaff is indicated only on Plans 36-27 (1819) and 36-31 (ea.
1817), its representation by shadowing on the latter plan being

the basis for the dimensions givenj it is also shown (although much
out of seale and from a distance) in the watercolor painting, "View
of the Battery looking Nerth from the Churn" (ca. 1817), reproduced
in Stokes, VI, Plate 93~-b. The earliest reference to the flagstaff
is in the bill of Sammel Cheesman (™procuring rope . . . to the
Flag Staff W Battery"), June 21, 1814, in Settlement 1830, Vou. 10,
Ab, 0, Acecount of C, Vandeventer (Accounts of Third Auditor of the
Treasury, Fiscal Section, National Archives).

8l, MeComb Plane 151 and 152; Archives Plans 36-11, 36-31, 36-32,

See alsc bill of Samuel Cheesman, June 6, 1814, for Mlaying platform
for 2 pumps W Battery," in Settlement 1830, Vou. 10, Ab. C. Account

of €, Vandeventer (Accounts of Third Auditor of the Treasury, Fiscal
Section, National Archives). McComb's Account Book for October, 1811,
has the following two items: ™30 blocks in cistern® and "173' cement
on cistern,” For the water pipes, see Minutes, VI, 96 (Mareh 5, 1810),
and McComb Plan 152; this plan, which apparently was preliminary in
nature, shows the pipes running from the bridge to a "Well®™ in front
of the officers' quarters to the right of the sallyport. Although
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this appears on no other plan, Williams to Secretary of War,
May 14, 1810 (Secretary of War, Letters Received), notes "3 stone
cisterns™ among work yet to be accomplished, indicating that it
may have been part of the original plans.

82, Archives Plans 36-27, 36-31, 36-32; the furnace on Plan 36~32
appears to be almost sguare, but this is contradicted by the other
plans. McComb Plan 152 shows a furnace 8' x 14' in the rear section
of the fort near the location chosen for the flagstaff. For the
use of "traveling forges,"” see Burbeck to Stoddard, February 19,
1812 (Military Notes). For the West Battery shot furnace, see
Ordnance Returns, West Battery, January, 18l - March, 1815
(o:nuuwam,imuotomuem
Stores, 1813-21); bill of Abraham Leggett, April, 1814, in
Settlement 1830, Vou. 80, Ab. B, Account of C. Vandeventer (Accounts
of Third Auditer of the Treasury, Fiscal Section, National Archives).
For a general survey of hot-shot furnaces, especially in the South,
»

see Herbert E. Kahler % National Park Service
Popular Study Mu;.l&n‘ > o Bs ds)e
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3. Axcheological Data

No comprehensive archeological investigation of the
interior of Castle Clinton has ever been made. A preliminary
dig conducted in 1955 indicated that the debris of later strue-
tures was so heavy and concentrated as to make excavation any-
where on the parade ground of the fort an exceedingly arduous
and expengive undertaking.

BExploratory trenching at that time also indicated
that the likeliheod of discovery of significant objects and
features of the period of 1812 was limited., Further archeological
investigation of the area prior te restoration is not recommended.
It would be quite costly and not likely to produce commensurate
results.

Ne complete report of the preliminary investigation was
ever submitted, but the field notes compiled at the time are here

W‘
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Archeological Field Notes
Castle Clinton National Momument
New York City, New York
Paul J. F, Schumacher - Archeologist

June 6, 1955 - Left Philadelphia, arrived New York City. Made
arrangements for laborers and tools, took Photographs. Staked
out Center lines and Trench 1 and possible location of Hot Shot
Furnace and cisterns, Visited Superintendent, Statue of Liberty
and Museum curator at Federal Hall,

June 7, 1955 - Started excavating Trench 1 - East-West - 3 feet
wide on center line of Castle Clinton interior. 3 laborers
from Federal Hall. & A.M, - 4:30 P.M. working hours. Hit
tremendous amount of brick, wood and metal rubble. Difficult
to keep trench lines straight. Difficult excavating., Studled
mm,m,t»mmmm. on Castle
Clinton.

June 8, 1955 - 3 men, Continued excavating in Trench 1 - lots of
rubble., Neo artifacts, Difficult digging. No signs of early
19th century censtruction. Lots of wood planking coming out
could possibly be flooring used in old fort. Doubtful., Measured
these pieces. The brick and iron all appear to be mid to late
19th century.

June 9, 1955 - 2 men, Due to rain we started digging late, Ex~
- Still all rubble - need hacksaw to
cut out iron and tin, The brick are all post 1840 in style.
The tin is roofing used in the mid 19th century for Castle Garden.
are from the roef copping. Miserable day.

¥ £
i

June 10, 1955 - Besutiful - continued excavating in
trench 1 - $till all rubble. Continued to hit water level at
28 inches -~ 32 inches beneath the surface and have to move on.
This water is due to poor drainage of old fish tank floors.
Trench is 35 feet long. We intended to keep it 3 feet wide but
due to rubble, 18 impossible, became 4 feet wide
Trench 1 crossed over the copper 1 inch water pipe which is 1 1/2
feet below the surface and the 10 ineh terra cotta
which is 1 foot beneath the surface, There is so much wood and
metal rubble in amongst the brick (mo dirt to speak of), that in

ot
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impossible to break up without a compressor and hammer. Too
expensive -~ so will leave it alone. Maybe at some future date
this can be done. These two stone walls also appeared in
Trench 2A but the working space was narrow and therefore more
dangerous and was not attempted. These 4 stone walls run
north-south, No excavating during the afternoon because the

June 16, 1955 - 3 men. Excavated in Trench 2B on North side of
the aquarium tank, All cemented rock - seems to have been
a solid foundation floor of some sort, probably of Castle
Carden or Aguarium Period.

June 17, 1955 - 3 men, Execavated in Trench 2B on North side of
Aguarium Tank, Still hard cemented rock, The lime is not of
the oyster shell type but it is very soft. Probably mid 19th
century lime., Finished the dig. HMade final photographs.
Measurements and drawings, Trench 2B on the other side of the
aguarium Tank is 3 feet deep.

ARTIFACTS -~ all from the rock fill in between the two stone walls
of Trench 28,

3 Pieces of wood from braces from stone Wall - To be identified
as to type of wood,

Pieces of animal bone - poor condition - not saved.
Glass bottle neck - hand blown ~ early 19th century,
Pisce of clay pipe stem.

Black design on white pot sherd - late 19th century.

Brown and yellow earthen ware sherd - 18th or early 1%th
century.

1 Brown ware sherd - probably a handle of some jug.
1 Thick earthen ware sherd with brown glaze,
1 Curved iron spike or pintel.
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